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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA DOCKET NO. v
' V.

MAGISTRATE'S CASE NO.

JIMMY KHA, aka Vikeha; FELIX KHA, and MAI (
NGUYEN, and WADE STEFFEN >, 12 0 I 0 1 M

Complaint for a violation of Title 16, United States Code, Sections 3372(a)(1), 3373(d)(1)(B), 1538(a)(1)(E),
1538(a)(1)(F), 1540(b) (knowing transportation, sale, receipt, acquisition, or purchase of endangered species with a
market value in excess of $350 with knowledge that the endangered species were delivered. carried,
transported, or shipped in the course of commercial activity and/or were sold or offered foy {al terstate
commerce) [COUNTS 2-4]; and Title 18, United States Code, Section 371 (conspirac, violations of
the aforementioned statutes) [COUNT 1] /*—'-""""’""\

. HiEd 11 COURY 1 =5\ \
UL
NAME OF MAGISTRATE JUDGE mz UNITED STATE U LOCATION
JAY C. GANDHI FeB 1 62 AGIST U Los Angeles, CA
W : O

DATE OF OFFENSE PLACE Athoﬂéﬂﬂi&b@smc DEPUL SED (IF KNOWN)
8/11 - 2/12 Los Ang m

Bernardino Counties

COMPLAINANT'S STATEMENT OF FACTS CONSTITUTING§W?E OR VIOLATION:.

SEE AFFIDAVIT AND COUNTS LABELED-AS) MENT A
BASIS OF COMPLAINANT'S CHARGE AGAINS @?ﬁ):
See attached affidavit which is { herein as part of this complaint.

V,

MATERIAL WITNESSES IN REL IWS CHARGE :

) v
I

SIGNATURE OF CO)PLAINANT

© ' LIZZ D

Being duly sworn, I declare

A3
foregoing is true and @

best of my knowledg
% OFFI TITLE Q / V .
SPECIAL AGENT - U'S. FISH & WILDLIFE SERVICE

Sworn to before me and subscribed in my presence,

SIGNATURE OF MAGISTRATE JUDGE (1) : DATE
Februar/é, 2012
1) See Federal Rules of Criminal Tedure rules 3 and 54.
[AUSA D. MITCHELL] REC: (1) DETENTION FOR JIMMY KHA, FELIX KHA, and MAI NGUYEN

(2) $100,000 Bond Secured by AOS by Third Party for WADE
STEFFEN
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COUNT ONE
[18 U.S.C. § 371; 16 U.S.C. §§ 1538(a) (1) (E) and (F), 1540(b),
3372(a) (1), 3373(d) (1) (B)]
Between on or about August 2011, and February 2012, in
Orange County, within the Central Distfict of California, and

elsewhere, defendants JARROD WADE STEFFEN, also known as Wade

Steffen, JIMMY KHA, also known as Vinh Kha, FELIX KHA, MATI
NGUYEN did knowingly, willfully and unlawfully combj pire,
confederate and agree together with each other others
known and unknown to commit acts in violation \© laws of the

United States, namely, to knowingly tra
acquire and purchase wildlife, speci
horns, with a market value of more

been transported and sold in

1538 (a) (1) (E) and (F)

congpiracy, JARROD FFEN, would purchase and sell

endangered wildl cies, namely Black Rhinoceros horns in

interstate &0 " sometimes by use of a straw buyer to conceal
the inte ature of the transaction Thereafter, to
accom and further the goal of the conspiracy, JARROD WADE

STEFFEN, and other unnamed co-conspirators, would transport or

arrange for the interstate transportation of the wildlife to

JIMMY KHA' and FELIX KHA, sometimes via MAI NGUYEN. JIMMY KHA and

FELIX KHA would purchase the wildlife from JARROD WADE STEFFEN
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for thousands of dollars, often paid in cash.
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COUNT TWO

[16 U.S.C. '§§ 3372(a) (1), 3373(d) (1) (B); 18 U.S.C. § 2]

On or about October 26, 2011, in Orange County, within the
Central District of California, and elsewhere, defendant JARROD
WADE STEFFEN, also knos\/m as Wade Steffen, did knowingly transport
and sell wildlife, namely Black Rhinoceros horns with a market
value in excess of $350, knowing that the horns had be irst

sold to him in interstate commerce by use of an unpé

buyer on or about October 14 and 15, 2011, in yd
federal law, namely, the Endangered Species A le 16 United
States Code, Sections 1538(a) (1) (F), 15 ¥> which prohibit
the offering for sale and sale of e ' species of wildlife,

including Black Rhinoceros, in inte commerce.

Specifically, defendant JARRO EFFEN traveled in

interstate commerce from 2Z to Forth Worth, Texas,
@. horns on or about October 14 and

purchased the Black Riin

15, 2011, through d straw buyer he used for the purpose
of concealing tlw@that he was not a resident of the State éf
Texas, andAgh er transported and on approximately October
26, 2011, - d the illegally sold wildlife.
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COUNT THREE
[16 U.S.C. §§ 3372 (a) (1), 3373(d)(1)(B); 18 U.S.C. §§ 2]

On or about November 1, 2011, in Orange County, within the
Central District of California, and elsewhere, defendant JARROD
WADE STEFFEN, also known as Wade Steffen, did knowingly transport
and sell wildlife, namely Black Rhiﬁoceros horns with a market
value in excess of $350, knowing that the horns had be 1d to

him in violation of federal law, namely, the Endang&y ies

Act, Title 16 United States Code, Sections 153
1540 (b) (1), which prohibit the offering for s sale of
endangered species, including Black Rhi ,Oin interstate

E STEFFEN traveled

commerce. Specifically, defendant

in interstate commerce from Illinoi orth Worth, Texas,

purchased the Black Rhinocero <§;§§§%n-or about October 14 and
15, 2011, through an unn aw buyer he used for the purpose
of concealing the factf|t was not a resident of the State of

Texas, and therea Tarfsported and on approximately November

1, 2011, re-sild legally sold wildlife.
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COUNT FOUR
[16 U.S.C. §§ 3372(a) (1), 3373(d) (1) (B); 18 U.S.C. §§ 2]
Between on or about October 26, 2011, and on or about
November 1, 2011, in Orange County, within the Central District
of California, and elsewhere, defendants JIMMY KHA, also known as
Vinh Kha, FELIX KHA,‘and MAI NGUYEN, did knowingly acquire and
transport wildlife, namely Black Rhinoceros horns with rket

value in excess of $350, knowing that the wildlife sold

and transported in violation of federal law, ngpw
Endangered Species Act, Title 16 United States L) sections

1538 (a) (1) (E) and (F), 1540(b) (1), whic i , in interstate

commerce, the delivery, receipt, carm angport, and

shipment in the course of commergcia tvity, and the offering

for sale and sale of endangére es, including Black
Rhinoceros. Specificall en on or about October 26, 2011,
11, defendants JIMMY KHA, FELIX

and on or about Novemlkgr

KHA, and MAI NGUY 1d and had transported, shipped,

carried and deli o MAI NGUYEN in California, from Texas,

Black Rhingse rns for which he paid more then $350.
Therea ing that the Black Rhinoceros horns had been

illeg old, transported, shipped, carried and delivered in

interstate commerce, between on or about Oétober 26, 2011, and on

or about November 1, 2011, defendant MAI NGUYEN transported the
horns to the residence of defendants JIMMY and FELIX KHA.

Thereafter, defendants JIMMY and FELIX KHA transported, and
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caused to be transported, the horns from their residence to their

business at Win Lee Porcelain.
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AFFIDAVIT

I, Lizz Darling, being duly sworn, hereby depose and state:

I. INTRODUCTION
1. I am a Special Agent (“SA”) of the United States Fish
and Wildlife Service (“USFWS”), Division of Law Enforcement,

which is part of the United States Department of Interior. I

have been employed as a Special Agent since 2004. Pri my

work as an agent, I was employed as a Wildlife Inspé h the

USFWS. I am presently assigned to the Specia : ions office

in Denver, Colorado that specializes in long i omplex and

undercover investigations. I have been v&2 in numerous

investigations into both State and F olations regarding

the unlawful importation of wildlife the United States. I

received specialized trainin he Criminal Investigators

Training Program and Spe nt Basic School at the Federal

Law Enforcement Trainiflg While at the USFWS, I have

Westigations, including the use of

d undercover officers, electronic and

participated in vsa

confidential sgou

physical sxv ce, the execution of search and arrest
warran vestigative interviews. Through my training and
exper as well as consultation with other experienced

investigators, I have become familiar with the methods of those
engaged in illegal wildlife trafficking, smuggling and money

laundering and their use of telephones and other devices to

-1-
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conduct their criminal enterprises. I am also familiar with
their techniques to conceal assets and proceeds from their
illegal activities. My duties include the enforcement of
regulations of the Convention on International Trade in
Endangered Species of Wild Faﬁna and Flora (“CITES”), an

international treaty to which the United States is a signatory,

" as well as enforcement of the Lacey Act, 16 U.S.C. § 3 N
seqg., and the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. § eq.

The information included in this affidavit is

investigation and information provided to me

Enforcement personnel. Since this affid s, @ntended only to
establish probable cause for the is a criminal complaint
. and arrest warrant, it does not COSSRES 11 informatioﬁ developed

during the course of the inves

a. Thié affidavit 4 itted in support of a criminal
complaint and applica arrest warrants for FELIX KHA,
-JIMMY KHA, MAI NG WADE STEFFEN for criminal violations
of the federal E ed Species Act and Lacey Act related to
illégal in séles, transport, and acquisition of
endange ceros horn, and conspiracy to commit those
crime luding the following: (i)_Title 16, United States

Code, Sections 1538(a) (1) (E), 1540(b) (interstate transportation
of an endangered species in the course of a commercial activity);

(2) Title 16, United States Code, Sections 1538(a) (1) (F), 1540 (b)

-2-
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(offering to sell or sale of an endangered species in interstate
commerce); (3) Title 16, United States Code, Sections 3372(a) (1),
3373(d) (1) (B), 1538(a) (1) (E), 1538(a) (1) (F), 1540(b) (knowing
ﬁransportation, sale, receipt, acquisition, or purchase of
endangered species with a market value in excess of $350 with

knowledge that the endangered species were delivered, sold,
carried, transported, or shipped in the course of comm 1
activity and/or were sold or offered for sale in ip

(conspiracy to engage in violations of the af ioned

statutes) . ee Attached Statement of C through Four.

II. BASIS FOR FACTS SET FORTH IN T

2, I am a member of a te o) ts working on an

investigation known as “OPE SH.” A “crash” is the term

for a herd of rhinoceros m and.substance, OPERATION CRASH

is designed to detect gate, prosecute and deter those

engaged in the ing of rhinoceros and the unlawful

trafficking o 3 gros horns.

3. d substance, and as. set forth below, the USFWS
has ob. idence and information regarding the illegal
traff in rhinoceros horns and related crimes including

smuggling and violations of the Lacey Act and the Endangered
Species Act by various individuals and businesses in the United

States. I make this affidavit based upon personal knowledge

-3-
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derived from my pafticipation in this investigation and from my
coordination with USFWS Special Agents assigned to OPERATION
CRASH. Conclusions I have reached are based on my training,
experience, and upon information I believe to be reliable from
the following sources: (1) Oral reports, written reports
(including those that have transcribed statements from recorded
conversations), and/or affidavits prepared by one or m ederal

agents and/or local law enforcement officers; (2)

surveillance that I and/or other federal agentg-t conducted;
(3) information provided by confidential sour ) telephone
records; (5) search warrants; (6) infor j &atained from
Special Agents working undercover; recoxrds; (8)

records of the mailing and delivery% ckages; (9) surveillance

and surveillance videos; and ords obtained from various

sources.
III. EXECUTIVE SUMMAR @

4. As set eYow, this portion of OPERATION CRASH

concerns VINH,CH A, (A/K/A/ JIMMY KHA), FELIX KHA, NHU MAIL

NGUYEN (A/ GUYEN), and those with whom they are engaged
in the A aWtrade of rhinoceros horns, including but not
limit JARROD WADE STEFFEN (A/K/A WADE STEFFEN), MOLLY

STEFFEN (A/K/A MOLLY BLACKBURN), MERRILY STEFFEN (collectively

“the STEFFEN GROUP”) .

5. . JIMMY KHA is an Asian male of Vietnamese extraction,

-4-
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approximately age 49, and the father of FELIX KHA. JIMMY KHA is
a United States citizen who lives in Garden Grove, California.
According to California Secretary qf State business records, VINH
CHUONG KHA (JIMMY KHA) is listed as the agent for service of
process for WIN LEE CORPORATION, doing business as WIN LEE
PORCELAIN. WIN LEE PORCELAINYis located at 9641 Bolsa Avenue,

Westminster, California 92683. According to.a WIN LE

CORPORATION business card, which was obtained from e WIN
LEE PORCELAIN business shop, WIN LEE is in the A Usiness.
JIMMY KHA is the boyfriend of MAI NGUYEN.  FE is the son

of JIMMY KHA and also works at WIN LEE @OM
6. FELIX KHA and JIMMY KHA h ed packages at WIN

LEE CORPORATION that have been n::;Q>' ppliers of rhinoceros

horns located in other stateg. ional packages have been

sent to JOLINE’'S NAILS w@ owned by MAI NGUYEN, who is the

eillance on at least three

are transport NGUYEN to the KHA home. Evidence obtained

girlfriend of JIMMY K
occasions has revg?% t packages delivered to JOLINE’'S NAILS,

in this in on indicates that JIMMY KHA and FELIX KHA have
been i d\n purchasing rhinoceros horns from various sources
since ast 2008.

a. Records obtained from Federal Express (“FedEx”) and

United Parcel Service (“UPS”) show packages being sent to the

KHAs at their business by known dealers of rhinoceros horns since

-5-
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at least 2009. Search warrants executed as part of OPERATION
CRASH have resulted in the inspection of packages sent by Fed Ex
or UPS to JOLINE’S NAILS and by the United States Postal Service

to WIN LEE CORPORATION,

b. The packages sent to JOLINE’S NAILS were primarily

sent by the STEFFEN GROUP which consists of WADE STEFFEN, his

mother, MERRILY STEFFEN, and his wife, MOLLY BLACKBURN m he

married in December 2011 and is now also known as FEN
(hereafter referred to as “MOLLY STEFFEN”) .

7. On February 7, 2012, WADE STEFFEN, TEFFEN and

MERRILY STEFFEN traveled to Long Beach, oﬁ&ia. The STEFFEN

GROUP had recently sent four packag ing a total of seven

rhinoceros horns to. JOLINE’S NAILS uvary 23, 2012, January

25, 2012, February 1, 2012, an ary 2, 2012. As set forth
below, these packages we pursuant to federal search
warrants authorized inf|t tral District of California. At

photographic

Black Rhi e

Uring their visit to California, the STEFFEN GROUP
was o by USFWS Special Agents visiting the WIN LEE
PORCELAIN business and afterward meeting at a sea food restaurant

with FELIX KHA and MAI NGUYEN.

b. On February 9, 2012, acting on a tip alleging that

-6-
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the STEFFEN GROUP would be carrying a.large sum of cash, USFWS
SAs notified the Transportation Security Agency (“TSA”) at the
Long Beach Airport in California. Thereafter, when the STEFFEN
GROUP went through airport security, one or more TSA Officers
found organic matter being cafried by one or more members of the
STEFFEN GROUP. Thereafter, the STEFFEN GROUP’s carry-on baggage
was inspected, and TSA Officers found approximately $3 0 in

$100 bills concealed in various places.

¢. The cash was seized by the Long

Department. Two safety deposit keys found in

purse were also seized. MERRILY STEFFE consent to

search her camera in which Long Bea officers observed

rately, photographs of

large sums of money. The phot of caéh were taken on

August 10, 2011, and Nov , 72011, according to the metadata

information stored on

!

and appear to show stacks of $100

bills bound with

8. The ANZTEY have obtained rhinoceros horns from JIM
LOLLI, an LOLLI BROTHERS in Macon, Missouri. As set
forth tords obtained from the United States Postal
Servi Zhoéw that JIM LOLLI has mailed 19 packages from Macon,

Missouri, to WIN LEE CORPORATION, in California since January 26,

2010. Seven of the known packages have been opened pursuantvto

federally authorized search warrants in the Central District of

-7-
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California and found a total of 18 rhinoceros horns. One of
those horns has been determined, after genetic testing, to be of
Black Rhinoceros, and another horn, based upon photographic
review by a USFWS Forensic Scientist, has also been foﬁnd to be

from Black Rhinoceros.

9. I have extensive knowledge on rhinoceros and the illegal

trade of Rhinoceros. Rhinoceros are an herbivore specj f
prehistoric origin characterized by their enormous thery
_skin and horns. Rhinoceros are “living fossil ne of the

largest remaining mega-fauna on earth. All sp of rhinoceros

are protected under U.S. and internatio < a1l Black
rhinoceros species are endangered. are actually

composed of keratin, the same tzseﬁSEQ$ tein that makes up hair

and fingernails. Both African g and the Sumatran

Rhinoceros have two horn the Indian and Javan Rhinoceros

have a single horn.

10. I am i tifat rhinoceros horn is a highly valued

and sought afjer ity despite the fact that international

trade has ely banned since 1976. The demand for
rhinoc odt, which is used by some cultures for ornamental
carvi ood luck charms, or alleged Asian medicinal purposes

has resulted in a thriving black market. Consequently, humans as
the only known predator of rhinoceros, are causing most species

of rhinocerosgs to be extinct or on the bfink of extinction.

-8-
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11. I am informed that the black market price for
rhinoceros horn is as high as approximately $25,000 per pound.
Rhinoceros horn is believed in some Asian cultures to have health
benefits. In Vietnam, in'particular, there have been recent
claims by some that rhinoceros horn can cure cancer. Rhinoceros
horn also is believed to bring godd luck and is highly sought
after as ornaments. Based upon my éxperience, trainin

research, and/or from what I have learned in this ion,

I understand that China and Vietnam are the am drgest

known markets for rhinoceros horn and that th no
significant end market in the United St
IV. PURPOSE Of‘ AFFIDAVIT %

12. This affidavit is madsg, fo purpose of establishing

probable cause to show that , JIMMY KHA, MAI NGUYEN,

WADE STEFFEN, MERRILY ST OLLY STEFFEN, and others known
and unknown have con violate the laws of the United
Stateé, in viola 8 U.S.C. § 371, inciuding:
%ldllfe trade, in violation of the Lacey
Act, % (A) and 3373(d) (1) (B); and
legal w11d11fe trade, in violation of the

Enda @Spem,es Act (“ESA”), 16 U.S.C. §§ 1538(a) (1) (E),

1540 (b) (to knowingly deliver, receive, carry, transport, or ship
in interstate or foreign commerce, by any means whatsoever and in

the course of a commercial activity, any endangered species) and

-9-

Filed 02/16/12 Page 17 of 55 Page ID #:17

Lyl

T




Al .

Al e i e

1

N

N » Case 2:12-mj-00401-DUTY Document 1 Filed 02/16/12 Page 18 of 55 Page ID #:18

16 U.S.C. §§ 1538(a) (1) (F), 1540(b) (to offer to sell, or sell,

~an endangered species in interstate commerce).

13. This affidavit is intended to show merely that there is
sufficient probable cause for the requested arreét warrants and
doeg not purport to set forth all of my knowledge of or
investigation into this matter. Unless specifically indicated
otherwise, all conversations and statements described } is

affidavit are related in substance and in part onl

affidavit does not contain all of the facts th
during the course of OPERATION CRASH or my in tion in this
matter. 0

V. OVERVIEW OF APPLICABLE LAWS

14 The Lacey Act makes it un for a person to import,

export, transport, sell, recei <::é§2%ire, or purchase in

interstate or foreign co ny wildlife, taken, possessed,

transported, or sold ion of foreign law, United States
law or treaty of it&d States. 16 U.S.C. §§ 3372(a)(1);
3372 (a) (2) (A) Lacey Act also makes it unlawful for a person
to make or o) ny false record, account or label for, or any
false 4 <§£§§§?&tion of, any wildlife which has been, or is
inteng§§§§> be, imported, exported, tfansported; sold, purchased

or received from any foreign country or transported in interstate

or foreign commerce. 16 U.S.C. §§ 3372(d) (1)..

15. The Endangered Species Act (“ESA”) (16 U.S.C. §§ 1531

-10 -
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et seq.) was enacted to provide a program for the conservation of
endangered species and threatened species. The ESA makes it a
misdemeanor crime for any person subject to the jurisdiction of
the United States, to knowingly deliver, receive, carry,
transport, or ship in interstate or foreign commerce, by any
means whatsoever and in the éourse of a commercial activity, any
endangered specieé. 16 U.S.C. 88§ 1538(a)(1)(E), 1540 I AIN

addition, under 16 U.S.C. §§ 1538(a) (1) (F), 1540(kb )

criminal violation for any person to offer to dr sell, an
endangered species in interstate commerce. he ESA th;
texrm “ehdangered species” includes any, Oor part thereof,
included on the Endangered Species ch is set forth in
the Code of Federal Regulations, Se o 16 U.S.C. §§ 1532(8)
(defining the term “fish or jwi <:;E§§>as including anyvmember of
the animal kingdom, incl e dead body or parts thereof),
1532(16) (defining thd |t pecies” as including any subspecies

of fish or wildl 37 (6) (defining the term "endangered

RS s that is in danger of extinction

1

: )
species" as a

throughout

significant portion of its range) and 1533
(authged e Secretary of the Interior to designate a species
as an gered species based on certain factors). The species

Diceros bicornis, which is commonly known as the Black Rhinoceros
was added to the Endangered Species List on July 1, 1975. See 50

Code of Federal Regulations (“CFR”) § 17.11 (setting forth

-11-
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species included on the Endangered Species List).*

16. Rhinoceros horn is a highly valued and sought after
commodity despite the fact that trade in it is regulated under
the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species
(“CITES”) since 1976. CITES is a treaty providing protection to

fish, wildlife, and plants that are or may become imperiled due

to the demands of international markets. CITES has be igned
by over 175 countries around the world. CITES is j d
under the authority of the‘Endangered Species the
regulations promulgated thereunder. 16 U.S.C. 8(c); 50
C.F.R. Parts 14 and 23. According to a Qf USFWS databases
by law enforcement the USFWS has n any CITES eXport
certificates to JIM LOLLI and t :S;és ndividuals referenced
above. w

VI. STATEMENT OF PROBAB

to KHA GROUP and Seizure of Cash

A. STEFFEN GRO

17. On Feb 2012, TSA inspected the carry-on luggage
of WADE STEFEZ} 1LY STEFFEN and MERRILY STEFFEN on their

departure m;E e airport in Long Beach, California. TSA found

a lar tYof cash in $100 bills and alerted the Long Beach

Police rtment which interviewed the STEFFEN GROUP. The cash

| The Southern White rhinoceros is not on the Endangered
Species List; however, I am -informed that the USFWS is not able
to distinguish, with testing DNA, a Southern White Rhinoceros
from the Northern White rhinoceros, which is endangered.

-12-
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was found in 3 different carry-on bags with additional money
located in MOLLY STEFFEN'’s purse and MERRILY STEFFEN'’s purse.

18. As more fully described below, JIMMY KHA AND FELIX KHA
have a history of receiving packages containing rhinoceros horns
from WADE STEFFEN, MOLLY STEFFEN, and MERRILY STEFFEN via
delivery to MAI NGUYEN'S nail salon, JOLINE’'s NAILS. vThe STEFFEN
GROUP’s visit to California took place after four packa
containing a total of seven rhinoceros horns had beeg o
‘JOLINE’S NAILS (January 23, 2012, January 25, 201 ary 1,
2012, and February 2, 2012). Two of the horn een '
identified as Black rhinoceros horns bas Qsptographic review
by a USFWS Forensic Scientist.

. 19. According to the police by Long Beach Police

Officer Oscar A. Valenzuela, <;Qs;5> reak in WADE STEFFEN' s

interview, Long Beach Pol er Valenzuela observed WADE

STEFFEN talking on his jone. According to Officer

Valenzuela’s police WADE STEFFEN was trying to speak

d to say something about his account and

quietly but was Qw£yriTEes

to say “5,000 icer Valenzuela saw WADE STEFFEN holding his

‘\‘ 0.\
appe wt he was trying to be discrete, but realized that he

had beell observed. As Officer Valenzuela approached, WADE

g at what appeared to be a credit card. It

wallet a4

STEFFEN stated “thank you” and ended the call. Officer
Valenzuela feared that WADE STEFFEN was trying to hinder the

investigation and took the wallet and phone. He obgerved that
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‘the card was a Visa debit card from the First National Bank of

Hico. WADE STEFFEN signed a consent to search form. In addition
to the.cash, a receipt was found for United Parcel Service next
day delivery. The receipt was for an item weighing 16.96 lbs
with a declared value of $400. The description of goods
indicated that the items shipped were antiques. According to the
receipt, the package was shipped by WADE STEFFEN from hj

parents’ address in Richmond, Illinois and sent to J ILS

in Highland, California.

20. According to a police report by Offi enzuela,
MOLLY STEFFEN signed a consent to search . OUpon subsequent
ingpection, approximately $20,000 in,c foundKin MOLLY
STEFFEN’s purse. When MOLLY STEFF the officer find two

stacks of $100 bills, she indi <§%S;§>at she did not know the

money was in her purse angd her husband put it there. In

a signed Disclaimer o ip of Currency form, she wrote: "I

agssume my husband p my purse.” She also indicated “That

money is not mi “Ite from his accounts.” The search

also found tw vy deposit keys each in an envelope indicating
that it the First National Bank in Hico, Texas. The
warni rding loss of kéys printed on the envelopes suggests
that théTe are two keys for each safety deposit box.

21. According to a report by Officer Jones,.MERRILY STEFFEN

signed a consent to search form and a camera was found in her

bag. According to Officer Valenzuela, the camera memory card has

14 -
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photographs depicting large stacks of U.S. currency. The
photographs of cash were taken on August 10, 2011, and November
28, 2011, accordipg to the metadata information stored on the.
card and each appears to show stacks of $100 bills bound with
rubber bénds. The same memory card also contained photographs of
rhinoceros horns being weighed on scales. I am informéd that

WADE STEFFEN and MERILLY STEFFEN traveled by air to Lon each,

California on August 9, 2011. I am also informed t LY
STEFFEN accessed her safety deposit box on August 1.
Based on my training and experience, I am awa hose
knowingly involved in illegal transactio iqsxlly use cash to

conduct their illegal business. AdditT a common method

used to store and conceal the volu cash that th¢ STEFFEN

GROUP has been known to posse ety deposit boxes.

22. According to repo ared by Long Beach Police

Officers Jones and Va n

5tred in illegal activity that generate

based on their training and

experience, subjects

8s use safe deposit boxes. They typically

large amounts o OCES

store illegal\Rpote¥ds in them. One of the reasons subjects

X

hey are typically unable to provide a legitimate

fe deposit boxes is to avoid law enforcement

place ca

dete

reason OF source of how the money was obtained. They know that
if they deposit large amounts of money into a regular financial
institution, that law enforcement may be alerted. If law

enforcement is alerted, they know that they can be subject to

-15-
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investigation. Based on my training and experience, I agree with
these observations made the by the officers of the Long Beach
Police Department.

B. Receipt of Rhinoceros Horns by the KHA GROUP

23. As set forth in the table below, Operation Crash has
obtained seventeen search warrants for parcels sent to either
JOLINE NAILS or WIN LEE CORPORATION in the Central Distpigt of

California since August 25, 2011. Of the seventeen

warrants that were obtained, seven were addressed WL’ LEE

CORPORATION and ten were addressed to JOLINE i Ail of the
packages that were examined pursuant to rqb,warrant and

addressed to WIN LEE CORPORATION wer JIM LOLLI. All of
the packages addressed to JOLINE NA re from WADE STEFFEN or

those associated with STEFFEN

WOLLY BLACKBURN, MERRILY

STEFFEN) .> A total of thi (37) horns were contained in

enting an affidavit for one

% in the affidavit for search warrant
overnment became aware that SUBJECT
vailable for interception and search.
dgent informed Magistrate Judge Walsh that
be sought by the government.

' T am informed that w
parcel, which was r
as SUBJECT PARCEL A
PARCEL 14 was nQ
Accordingly, the
a warrant wo

2 t counsel, based upon the information known to
gover, unsel at the present time, believes that a seizure
and s of a package conducted by a local law enforcement

detecti on June 14, 2011 and July 27, 2011 were likely
unauthorized and/or conducted in violation of the Fourth
Amendment to the United States Constitution. Each of those
packages was sent by WADE STEFFEN to JOLINE NAILS. Government
counsel submits to the reviewing United States Magistrate Judge
that targets of this particular investigation, such as FELIX KHA,
JIMMY KHA, LOLLI BROTHERS, JIM LOLLI, MERILLY STEFFEN, RANDY
STEFFEN, and MOLLY STEFFEN do not have standing to object to this
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_ the violative _se

the packages that were opened by USFWS Special Agents. Of those
horns, ten have been identified or preliminarily identified as
that of a whité rhinoceros or could not be identified. The
following table indicates the results of genetic testing and/or
photographic review by a USFWS Forensic Scientist. I am informed

that genetic testing is more accurate than photographic review.

Those horns indicated as having no result are from rhinpegros,
<-c ?

for which genetic testing did not reveal the type o of
rhinoceros. The results below which have a ** s are based
upon photographic review by a USFWS Forensic Genetic
testing for those horns has not yet been igsg.

TABLE OF PAC H WARRANTS (“SW”)

O

rch because they did not have any
expectation of privacy in the package
als do not have standing to object to
en they do not have a subjective and
ﬁtY-~ n of privacy in the area searched or the
AV /~Fee Rawlings v. Kentucky, 448 U.S. 98, 104-105
dctive expectation of privacy and thus no standing
Jdmissibility of drugs seized from acquaintance’s
Y his basis, the government submits that there is no
s$ociated with the probable cause observations made as
the resal¥ of Detective Hague’'s seizure and search with respect
to FELIX KHA, JIMMY KHA, LOLLI BROTHERS, JIM LOLLI, MERILLY
STEFFEN, and MOLLY STEFFEN. However, the government also views
both WADE STEFFEN and MAI NGUYEN as targets in this investigation
and acknowledges that those individuals may have standing to
object to the local detective’s search and seizure. The
information obtained from those unauthorized searches is not set

forth in this affidavit.

unauthorized seizur
subjective and re
gsearched. Thes

reasonable e
evidence s
(1980) (m
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DATE of [FROM TO Mail F#/TYPE Magistrate-
SW Service Judge
1. [08-27-11  [Pim Lolli Win Lee USPS 1 Black [F. Mumm, J.
1 no
result
2. [09-03-11 Merrily Joline's UPS 2 White A . Rosenberg,
Steffen Nails J .
3., 09-03-11 Tim Lolli Win Lee " UsPs 4 White Q. Rosenberg,
2 Unknown (J.
4. [09-15-11 Wade Steffen Joline's FedEx 2 No Wumm, J.
Nails results A7 7\
Vv
5. [09-22-11 ° Molly Joline'’s UPS 2 Bl refsky,
‘ Blackburn Nails U
NN
6. [L0-06-11 7im Lolli Win Lee USPS VA, Wistrich,
1.
/2 ke
r&O22KS]
7. [L0-07-11 T7im Lolli Win Lee J ? white [A. Wistrich,
4 1 no 1 .
N\ result
AN
8, [L0-13-11 Molly Jolin Ex b Black ©. Segal, J.
Blackburn Nailé\ /
9. [L0-26-11 Molly g_% L UPS > Black** [F. Olguin, J.
Blackburn ﬂm \
\ )
10 fL1-01-11 Anonymous \y,lne's FedEx 1 Black [P. Walsh, J.
Stephen( gails 1 no
Texas” ™\ b‘ result
LLILY
11 |L1-01-11 Jim\qsgﬁ;7' in Lee USPS b White [P. Walsh, J.
N\
‘ ANV A2 .
12 [11-16-11 \J\rs Lolli Win Lee USPS 1 Black** A. Wistrich,
b 1 no J .
Py~ result
(CYVT
13 12—1‘@/ Jim Lolli Win Lee [JSPS D White** |J. McDermott,
17 .
14 [1L2-23-11 Jim Lolli Win Lee [JSPS No search
15 01-23-12 lade Steffen (Joline’s JPS 2 Black#** [, Mumm, J.
Nails
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16 01-25-12 Wade Steffen [Joline’s JPS P> White** . Olguin, J.
Nails
17 [02-01-12 Merrily Joline’s FedEx 1 no F. Olguin, J.
‘ Steffen Nails results**
18 {02-02-12 Merrily Joline’s UPS P White** [F. Olguin, J.
Steffen Nails
C. Summary of Additional Records Obtained from Mail
Services
24. Records obtained from FedEx, UPS and the U.S tal
Service relating to packages delivered to WIN LEE 4 N and
JOLINE NAILS revealed that there were many addj shipments,
I assume also contained rhinoceros horns. ,How the actual

content is not known because these pac not opened by

law enforcement. That said, they a have been mailed in

a manner consistent with those at found to have»contained

rhinocexros horns. ,

| 25. Records obtain edEx relatingito packages
delivered to WIN LEE R ON and JOLINE NAILS show the
following:

etween January 2010 and November 2011, WADE

STEFFEN wa i as sender on thirteen (13) packages, Molly
urn) was listed as the sender on one (1) package
STEFFEN was listed as the sender on four (4)

packages. WADE STEFFEN is believed to be the sender of an
additional six (6) packages based upon the fact that the packages

were sent from the same shipping businesses located in Texas and

-19-
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Illinois that he used to send packages that were subject to

search warrant;

b. Between January 2010 and August 2011, JIM LOLLI

and/or LOLLI BROTHERS were listed as the sender on five (5)

packages;

c; Between October 2010 and April 2011, JOHN BROMMEL,
the known owner of The Corner Shoppe, in Austin, Texas also
the coordinator of World Class Big Game Trophy Mount tern

Auction in Fort Worth, Texas, which has auctione
rhinoceros taxidermy mounts, was listed as th

packages; and
d. Between August 2010 and 011, FELIX KHA is

listed on the sender of five packagd iTed from various parts

A at WIN LEE CORPORATION.

used to send packages that were

subject To search warrant; and

b. On April 19, 2011, JOHN BROMMEL was listed as the

sender on one (1) package.

27. Records obtained from U.S. Postal Service relating to
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packages delivered to WIN LEE CORPORATION revealed that between
January 2010 and August 2011, JIM LOLLI and/or LOLLI BROTHERS
were listed as the sender on 11 packages.

D. Role of MAI NGUYEN

28. Asg set forth above, MAI NGUYEN’s nail salon, JOLINE’s

NAILS, has been a delivery location for packages from the STEFFEN

GROUP. As set forth below, it appears that MAI NGUYEN been
directly involved in the trafficking of rhinoceros . he:
has made deposits of approximately $580,500 over n month
period that appear inconsistent with her bu51 JOLINE's
NAILS and has made trlps to Missouri and <§hat appeaxr to be
related to purchases and/or payment eros horns. As set

forth below, MAI NGUYEN has been oé§%S>' to be actively engaged

in the KHA’s illegal activiti

29. On August 18, 2 gust 23, 2011, USFWS Special

on JIMMY KHA and MAI NGUYEN and

Agents conducted surves

observed them trave \bﬂv

pm Long Beach Alrport Long Beach, CA,

to Kansas City, $FWS Special Agents in Missouri continued

the surveillan g observed that JIMMY KHA and MAI NGUYEN were

picked e airport and transported to a hotel in a

vehi tered to a DARIN SCOTT ZIEBARTH (“ZIEBARTH”) of
Macon, Migsouri. On August 18, 2011, they were accompanied by
the son of JIMMY KHA and younger brother of FELIX KHA. USFWS
Special Agents have confirmed that ZIEBARTH was the driver of the

vehicle based upon a review of ZIEBARTH driver's license obtained
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from the State of Missouri. A search of publicly available
information has determined that ZIEBARTH is a former Chief of
Police‘in Macon, MO.‘ ZIEBARTH'’ 8 current status with that police
department has noﬁ been determined; however ZIEBARTH was observed
by a USFWS SA to be driving a police vehicle on September 26,
2011.

30. On September 26, 2011 and December 20, 2011, WS
Special Agents conducted surveillance on MAI NGUYEN an@\o rved
her travelling from Long Beach Airport, Long Beac o Kansas

City, MO. On September 26, 2011, MAI‘NGUYEN .x@vn ved being

picked up from the airport by ZIEBARTH a st'to a hotel.
31. On October 5, 2011, I and aura Chee conducted
surveillance at the Long Beach Airp WADE STEFFEN was due to

arrive from Dallas, TX, and M <;Qsjg> FFEN was due to arrive
O

from Chicago, Illinois. MAI NGUYEN arrive at the

alrport and greet WADE and MERRILY STEFFEN. I also

Agent in David Hubbard and other law enforcement personnel
condul ert surveillance of MAI NGUYEN who arrived at the
airport In Austin, Texas, from Long Beach, California. - NGUYEN
was observed coming off her flight,' making a few phone calls and

being picked up at the airport, in a white Dodge Ram 3500 pickup,

Illinois license plate 298 785, registered to and being driven by
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WADE STEFFEN. STEFFEN and NGUYEN were observed being together for
approximately four minutes in STEFFEN’s truck daring which time
STEFFEN drove in a circle leaving the airport by way of the
“return to terminal” exit and then back to the terminal where

NGUYEN exited the vehicle and went inside the terminal. NGUYEN

rthen flew back to Long Beach, California. Agents continued

surveillance of WADE STEFFEN who drove to a FedEx Ship Print
store in Austin, Texas, Where he was seen entering o ting
packages. Once STEFFEN left the FedEx store, SA’ rnto the
business and took photos of the labels of the c ages which

STEFFEN had shipped. One of these packa agcpeing shipped

from MOLLY BLACKBURN to JOLINE NAILS rch Street, Unit A-
2, Highland, CA, 92346. USFWS Agen ained a federal search

warrant for this package (whi W ied as SUBJECT PARCEL 8

and which was later determd contain two Black rhinoceros

horns.

33, On Januar 12, USFWS agents examined the contents

of a package (w identified as SUBJECT PARCEL 15) pursuant

to a feder warrant obtained that same day that was sent
by UPS STEFFEN in Stephenville, Texas, to JOLINE NAILS.
Base otographic review by a USFWS Forensic Scientist,

both horns found inside the package were determined to be from
Black rhinoceros. USFWS SA’s then conducted covert surveillance
after the package was delivered to JOLINE NAILS. At

approximately 7:07 p.m. Pacific Time, the officers observed

-23-
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NGUYEN exit JOLINE NAILS carrying a large box that was similar in
size and shape to the package that was searched the previous day.
The agents observed NGUYEN place the large box into a Honda CRV,

license plate number 5NDV544, drive to her residence, pick up a

passenger, and then proceed to the residence of JIMMY KHA and

FELIX KHA. The SA’s observed MAI NGUYEN's passenger carry the

package into the KHA residence.

34. On January 25, 2012,‘I examined a packag

PARCEL 16) sent from WADE STEFFEN to JOLINE NA uant to a
federal search warrant issued that gsame day. ckage was
sent via UPS from an Office Depot/Copy 1@9 ﬁ'ort Collins,
Colorado (but stated that it was fro@ ee). Based upon
photographic review by é USFWS E r;SQQs cientist, the larger
horn appeared to be that of <§§%§éﬁinoceros and the smaller

horn could not be identi

to t e searched the day before. MAI NGUYEN was .observed
on a s illance video putting something into her car that was
consistent with the package. At approximately 10:11 p.m., the
SA’s observed a vehicle pull into the driveway of the KHA

residence. The SA’s observed NGUYEN, along with three
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passengers, exit the vehicle. One of the passengers was ocbserved
carrying a package, believed to be the same package searched the
day before and delivered to JOLINE NAILS earlier that day, from
the car and into the KHA residence. The other subjects appeared
to carry plastic bags into the residence. Within minutes of-
arriving, NGUYEN and her three passengers got back into the

vehicle and left, without the package.

E. Financial Records Linking the KHA GROUP FFEN

GROUP _and JIM LOLLI %
35. OPERATION CRASH has involved an ong ination of
financial records of certain individuals jfHrludiwng” JIMMY KHA,

<O

FELIX KHA, MAI NGUYEN, WADE STEFFEN, M FEN, MERRILY

STEFFEN, JIM LOLLI, and others eng% e purchase and sale

of rhinoceros horns.

36, USFWS Special Agenis
have reviewed the rec d

bank accounts for eriods of time and travel records

concerning certa viduals including the following: FELIX

ORPORATION/JIMMY KHA (CATHAY BANK), MAI NGUYEN

KHA (WELLS /RA IMMY KHA (WELLS FARGO), JIMMY KHA (CATHAY
BANK)

'
(CHA NGUYEN (WELLS FARGO), WADE AND MERRILY STEFFEN (BANK
OF AMERICA), WADE STEFFEN (McHENRY SAVINGS), MERRILY STEFFEN
(McHENRY SAVINGS), WADE STEFFEN AND MERRILY STEFFEN (McHENRY .
SAVINGS), MOLLY BLACKBURN, aka MOLLY STEFFEN, (BANK OF AMERICA),
LOLLI BROTHERS LIVESTOCK SPECIAL SALES (ATLANTA STATE BANK) ,
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LOLLI BROTHERS LIVESTOCK AUCTION EXPENSE ACCOUNT (ATLANTA STATE
BANK) . This list does not include additional bank accounts that

do not at this time appear to be involved in rhinoceros related

transactions.

37. Below is a summary of some of the observed transactions

from the records obtained thus far. As set forth below, there

are transactions showing deposits by both JIMMY KHA an X KHA
in foreign accounts loéated in China. It is not k er
these accounts are those owned by JIMMY and/or or
whether they are someone else's accounts.  Fur re, certain
individuals, including FELIX KHA, JIMMY STEFFEN,
MERRILY STEFFEN, have financial tran that appear
structured in ordered to avoid the 1 Currency Transaction
‘Report (CTR) requirement for, t ions exceeding $10,000.
Based on my experience a ing, these transactions,

typically in the rang 00 to $10,000, are indicative of

money laundering s seeking to conceal their activities

onally, the record of transactions shows that \

transa s between the STEFFEN GROUP and the KHA GROUP than

there are financial transactions between these groups. As a

result, there is probable cause to believe that these individuals

are engaged in cash transactions, indicative of money laundering,
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that are not recorded.

39; A review of the two accounts maintained by JIMMY KHA
(WELLS FARGO and CATHAY BANK) and a third account in the name of
WIN LEE CORPORATION that is maintained by JIMMY KHA (CATHAY
BANK), shows that transactions witﬁ traffickers in rhinoceros
horns ceased in these accounts in or about July 2010. It appears
that as of that date, either his transactions are bei cealed

or are being made from another account not known tg

government or maintained in another person's n

a. A review of JIMMY KHA's ban eco0 for the period
from Jahuary 22, 2009 to August 1, 201 wire traﬁsfers
i

totaling $96,520 to a bank account 38 deposits between
'$9,000 and the $10,000 CTIR re mé ¢/ 73 deposits by WIN LEE
CORPORATION totaling $380,6@%} eposits into two separate
accounts totaling $399 5 13 wire transfers totaling
$135,400 to JIM LOL Vel records obtained from Southwest
Airlines, Delta , Continental Airlines, U.S. Airways;
JetBlue, and Airlines, show Ehat between February 2008

and Febrpar JIMMY KHA has traveled by plane ten times to

13

Chin otal approximate time of nine and a half months.
Travel ords also show that between February 2011 and August

2011, JIMMY KHA traveled by plane three times to Missouri.
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40. A review of FELIX KHA's bénk records for the period
from January 2009 to November 2011, indicate 5 wire transfers
totaling $52,500 to a bank account in China, 29 deposits between
$9,000 and $10,000 CTR requirement; 65 cash deposits totaling
$331,700; 9 wire transfers totaling $79,500 to WADE STEFFEN; 8
wire or checking card transfers totaling $§6,000.to JIM LOLLI;
and 2 wire transfers totaling $16,000 to JOHN BROMMEL. review

of travel records obtained from Southwest Airlines,

Airlines, Continental Airlines, U.S. Airways, Jet

Frontier Airlines, show that between October 4 December

2011, FELIX KHA traveled by plane to varj paéts of China on
twelve occasions for an approximate £ ourteen months.
During February, May, August, Septe nd November 2011, FELIX

KHA made 5 trips to Vietnam, %W were made as part of a

trip in which he also visite Between February 2009 and

1ed by plane seventeen times to

May 26, 2011, FELIX

Missouri and six ti

reyie

41. A
deposits t 1 580,500 between December 2009 and March 2011
and 2 @hdrawals totaling $160,000 between December 2009
and M 011. This influx of cash would appear ‘inconsistent
with her nail salon business, JOLINE’S NAILS. A review of travel
records obtained from Southwest Airlines, Delta Airlines,

Continental Airlines, U.S. Airways, JetBlue, and Frontier

"PrTMTIY




Gl

bl i i 4

T T

Case 2:12-mj-00401-DUTY Document1 Filed 02/16/12 Page 37 of 55 Page ID #:37

Airlines show that MAI NGUYEN has traveled to Missouri 4 times

and 1 time to Texas between February 2011 and August 2011.

42. A review of records for bank accounts maintained by
WADE STEFFEN, MERRILY STEFFEN, and MOLLY BLACKBURN (the STEFFEN
GROUP) , shows cash deposits and withdrawals. WADE STEFFEN
deposited $39,800 in December 2010 and then withdrew $30,000 that
same month with which he purchased property in Hico, T |
Between October 2009 énd December 2011, WADE STEFF, ew
$214,000 in césh from a joint account that he ith his
mother, MERRILY STEFFEN. For her part, MERRIL FEN deposited
$210,000 in cash between April_ZOlO an <? 2011. However,
a review of travel records obtained hwest Airlines,
Delta Airlines, Continental Airlines\NYS. Airways, JetBlue, and
Frontier Airlines,.strongly that it corresponds to their
trafficking of rhinocero Between the dates of August
2009 and January 20124 |W EFFEN traveled by plane 9 times to
Long Beach, Calii as well as other domestic trips. Between
October 2010 d uary 2012, MOLLY BLACKBURN traveled by plane
4 times to %ch, California, as well as other domestic
trips @ July 2011 and January 2012, MERRILY STEFFEN B

trave plane 4 times to Long Beach, California.

a. On February 16, 2012, I became aware that MAI
NGUYEN has purchased a round-trip ticket for travel on February

19, 2012 from Ontario, CA to Kansas City, MO.
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43. A review of bank accounts maintained by JIM LOLLI shows
that one account, LOLLI BROTHERS Livestock Sﬁecial Sales at the
Atlanta State Bank, has received 9 checks to WADE STEFFEN
totaling $19,494, 3 checks to MOLLY BLACKBURN totaling $48,206,
14 wire transfers totaling $121,512 from FELIX KHA and/or JIMMY
KHA, 51 cash deposits totaling for $935,961, and 2 intexrnal
transfers between accounts for $40,000, each in January 11,

with a note specifying that it pertained to a “surp 0

commission.”

F. Undercover Transactions With WADE ST

44. On or about October 15, 2011 Special Agent

operating undercover (“UC1l"), who ﬁ&&§g Te of JIM LOLLI's prior
oS t '

involvement in the rhinocer acted

lollibros@lollibros.net ag assistance with identifying a
rhinoceros shoulder moyn e email stated:

s¥le in the past and I know you guys
help me. I have a rino mount and

I have ben t
are expert

people a itg me its White and someone than told
me it is one. I don't now who to believe. IEf
someo look at the pics and tell me what it
re hat would be great. 1f I need to take other
] stvlet me know.
UCl a three photos of a shoulder mount of a Black
rhinoceros.

45. On October 17, 2011, UCl received a voice mail/from JIM

LOLLI's business line, stating to call him back. On October 18,
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2011, UCL returned JIM LOLLI's voice mail and spoke with him.

a recorded conversation, LOLLI stated about the photograph:

That is a Black Rhino. No doubt, no question and it
has to be sold in your state. Now if you want to sell
it I've got people in your state that can buy it. It
is limited to the high, high dollar figure but you
could probably pretty good money. First of all you got
to find out the weight of it, that's what's selling
it's the horn. If we get the weight then I could tell
you about what it's worth. Just say it's seven pound
horn, I could probably for sure get you in the $2ifﬂﬂ‘
plus range. Got to get the weight of it and see @
available in Iowa. I know there's one guy avg L
Towa cause I have had him pick up something
there. That's the legal way. No matter
whether you know me, who whatever, you gq
drivers license from that person and get
That keeps it legal for you. Now thg
want the head or he might want it.
way. If you want to, I can get i r you. I
can't receive any commission, t way the law
is. Somebody wants to give m of appreciation
for something. I really don't about that too
much, because I get enou d ough anyhow to move,
the White Rhinos.. On the I can't but I can
refer you to somebody. wanted to buy me a coke
one day you can do r'. 111 guide you in the right
direction on that, .%« nd the edge of it there ought
e bmething around it. Kinda
loosen it and Lf there's bolts, you might have to

to be a little plgs
Ut them off. The main thing is you

got to get s out of the head so don't cut them’
too shor U~can try to work them out of it so you
can get gRae ate weight. Those prices every ounce
is wo ch. Work on that first and then we'll

kinda do\Mgom there. I got a couple of different

Filed 02/16/12 Page 39 of 55 Page ID #:39

In

the horns and determined that the combined weight was 8 pounds 10

ounces. UCL marked the two horns with invisible marking powder

and removed a small sample from the horn for DNA testing. In
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addition, on November 1, 2011, UC1l submitted the small samples to
the USFWS Forensics Lab in Ashland, Oregon for identification.

The lab identified the horn samples as from Black rhinoceros.

47. On October 19, 2011, UCl received a voice mail from JIM
LOLLI from his business line, asking if UC1 had found out

anything and to call him back. The next day, October 20, 2011,

UCl returned a phone call to JIM LOLLI. JIM LOLLI ask 1 if
UCl had the weight of the rhinoceros horns. UCL t LLT
about sawing the bolts off too short and gave Ia weight‘
of 8 pounds 10 ounces. UCl told JIM LOLLI the t of the two
complete lag bolts was 1.3 ounces. JI en estimated the
accurate weight of the horns as 8 p nces. JIM LOLLI

stated the following to UCL:

11 you, if you're

nt to try to get for them
somewhere between. I ought
000-%4,000 a pound easy. I

{, let me figure something real
get $25,000-$30,000 it would be

Well I'm going to have
interested. What d
right there, they'r
to be able to ge
think if you ¢
quick. I thj

good. If whites and we could sell them out
of the stat 1d probably get you $30,000-540,000.
I will t what I'll do. I'll have a guy, just

~g00. Just see what he says and you don't
him I told you. I'm sure they will give
nd the will probably come by and give you
it. It's all legitimate but it has to be sold
r state. The main thing is get a driver's
se for this. Just make sure it's an Iowa driver's
license. Sign a paper and just say this is who I am
and have it sign it so you got the signature there.
The same that's on the driver's license. That will
clear you and keep you in good shape on it. These
horns are sold in good faith as to a resident of the
state of Iowa and have them sign it.
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UCl asked JIM LOLLI if UC1l could trust the referred buyers. JIM

LOLLI responded as follows:

Oh yea, no,. no, no. I trust the.. I deal with them
every day. Felix is the main guy but he's got people
everywhere that, but this is the only way to keep it
legal. So if he calls you just stick with what I told
you and go from there.

(Emphasis Added) .

48. On October 20} 2011, UCl received a voice m m
MOLLY BLACKBURN (who had not yet married WADE ST ence
is identified here as MOLLY BLACKBURN). BLAC ted:

Hi..., this is MOLLY BLACKBURN and 0 told me

that you have a horn for sale and ndering if I

could come get it from ya. If u call me back

at 712-313-0331. Thank you. '
UC1l sent BLACKBURN a text messa :S:EB s telephone number saying
23:Q$22e message and would call

1, 2011, BLACKBURN sent UCLl the

. that UC1 had received BLACK
the following day. ©On O

following text from 7

Ok I don't d service where I am at if you call
please leav ge. I will call you back. Thanks.

gg%éi)ater on October 21, 2011, UCL returned a phone call to

BLACKBURN; BLACKBURN answered and asked UCL where UCl lived.
BLACKBURN asked UCl if he would be around the next Wednesday,

October 26, 2011. BLACKBURN asked to meet on Wednesday and
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stated that she was in Texas visiting family and wouid be flying
in on Tuesday and out again on Thursday. UCl and BLACKBURN had a
discussion about the weight and price of the horns. BLACKBURN
asked UCl how much money he wanted per pound and UCl asked

BLACKBURN what she was willing to pay. BLACKBURN replied:

Tt's a, actually I'm just running up and getting it for
my fiancé. 1I'll have to ask him because I'm not suxe.
I don't even know what he pays for them. So, he

one that actually talked to Jimmy [LOLLI]. He

wanted me to call you and wanted me to come g

because he is out of town for a few weeks.

UCl then told BLACKBURN that JIM LOLLI had sta

worth $3,000-%$4,000 per pound. MOLLY BLA URN

did not know prices but that she could fiancé talk to
him about “price and all that stuf&NX Y BLACKBURN indicated
‘that her role would be to brin as and pick up the horns once

there was an agreement on p

50. On October ' @ UCl and BLACKBURN exchanged text

messages concerni to pick up the horn. BLACKBURN texted

that she would 1 pick up the rhinoceros horn on October 29,
2011. ©UCl _ge xt message back that the first week of
November ork better. BLACKBURN replied that this would

" work éé%éi)t ey would be driving to T1linois that week and would

be going through Des Moines. BLACKBURN indicated that WADE

STEFFEN would call about setting up a deal.

51; On October 28, 2011, UCl spoke with BLACKBURN.
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BLACKBURN discussed meeting on November 2, 2011. BLACKBURN
indicated that she was aware that JIM LOLLI had told UCl that the
price for the horn would be $30,000 and that she would let WADE
STEFFEN know. on November 1, 2011, UCl left a message with
BLACKBURN asking BLACKBURN to call UCl. UCl had received a call
from WADE STEFFEN, who left the message using his cellular

telephone. WADE STEFFEN stated that MOLLY BLACKBURN to him to

give UCl a call. WADE STEFFEN and UCl agreed to eithek\m

Wednesday or Thursday (November 2-3, 2011) . WADE agreed

to call UCl the following morning.

52. Following additional calls an s, UCl and WADE

STEFFEN agreed to meet in Des Moine ovember 2, 2011. At

approximately 7:09 p.m. on NovepQer 11, a White Dodge Ram

1500, crew cab pickup beari s license plates arrived in

a Kmart parking lot on U Avenue to meet UCLl. WADE

STEFFEN, who was drivilg, out of the pickup and walked to

UCl's passenger introduced himself as “Wade.” Another

unknown male

UCl asked FEN if he wanted to look at the rhinoceros
horn. 1 noticed a third male sitting in the front

passe eat of the pickup. WADE STEFFEN and one of his
passengers inspected the rhinoceros horn. WADE STEFFEN asked UC1
about the‘price of the rhinoceros horn. UCL told WADE STEFFEN

that, according to JIM LOLLI, it was worth $30,000. UCl asked
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WADE STEFFEN what he was willing td pay. WADE STEFFEN turned to
his passenger and stated,‘“I don't know, what do you think.” The
passenger stated, “$20,000-$22,000." UCl told WADE STEFFEN that
both horns weighed 8.5 pounds. After examining the horns, WADE
STEFFEN stated that he was going to eat and discuss the purchase
and call UCL back. WADE STEFFEN and the passenger then got back
into the Dodge pickup and left the parking lot. UCL waited

approximately 30 minutes for a return phone call fr

STEFFEN. UCl called and left a message on WADE S %EB
cellular telephone requesting a return phone -é&::) E STEFFEN
did not return the call and UCl left the iqg lot.

53. On November 3, 2011, UCl hone call to JIM

emb 7 2011, JIM LOLLI called

LOLLI and left a message. On N

UCl. UCl explained that he kward meeting with WADE

STEFFEN that made him fe fortable and that STEFFEN had not
purchased the rhinocexds During the call, JIM LOLLI stated

the following:

S~gdPting something kinda messed up...Wade is

A3 Molly's fine. I don't know who was with
3 guy out of Iowa or wherever that takes
sAings. But the way I got it from the guy, the
&, MYy that's buying. He called me later and he said
eff Fuze was there, what's he doing there and he
sd&d’/that kinda spooked his guy. So he left. So let
me see what's going on and I'll get you back ahold of
ya' and see, that Molly and Wades okay. They're the
ones that I kinda expected to be there. But I don't
know what they were doing jacking around on their price
like that..I tell you what you can do. I mean I hate to
do it this way. If you wanted to bring it to me I

-36-

LA

T T




il

-+« Case 2:12-mj-00401-DUTY Document 1 Filed 02/16/12 Page 45 of 55 Page ID #:45

could get a guy to pay you and then just not say
nothing. I could get it gone. Maybe you would feel
more comfortable. Alright, you just let me know when
you can meet me somewhere half way and it will be me or
my buddy Scott who works with me in here. You just let
me know when. Those other guys, they do it for him but
they have spooked some other. They are kinda' grubby,
they're rammy a little bit they shouldn't ben even
trying to deal with you. Well that's fine, I don't
blame you one bit I would be the same way. I want
everything to be on the up and up. I'll help you do
gsomething. You just let me know.

Later on November 4, 2011, UCl called and told JIM LOL t he
would drive to Macon, Missouri and bring the rhing S.
JIM LOLLI agreed and stated: “Just let me know got to get

the money for ya.”

54. During a telephone conversati mber 7, 2011 UCl

informed JIM LOLLI that UC1l would vi OLLI at his business

in Macon, Missouri the following, da M LOLLI indicated that

UCl should go to the trophy xro eet “Scott.” The next day,
November 8, 2011, UCl ar OLLI BROTHERS LIVESTOCK MARKET,
located at 704 Main St{ye con, Missouri, and walked to the»
trophy room where hvited inside by SCOTT DARIN ZIEBARTH.
ZIEBARTH remo eo@rns from the box and weighed them on the
scale. ZI ked UCLl about the prior meeting with STEFFEN.
UCl ex at it was awkward and he was concerned about his
safet EBARTH stated:

That's really weird. Of course we always try to listen
to everybody's stories whenever they. Because you
know, this stuff, when your dealing with this much,
that's kind of weird.

ZIEBARTH then dialed a number on his cellular phone and stated
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into the phone that UC1l was at the trophy room. ZIEBARTH then
asked UCL if WADE STEFFEN looked at the rhinoceros horns. UCl
told ZIEBARTH that one of his passengers had examined the
rhinoceros horn! ZTEBARTH then stated: “Well Jimmy just tried
to get a, get somebody that would be in your state. To work it
out with ya’.” A short while later JIM LOLLI walked into the
room and shook hands with UCl. LOLLI asked ZIEBARTH, "

got’'em in?” ZIEBARTH responded, “They're in here g o) re

weighed, they're good.” TUCL then told JIM LOLLI e

meeting with WADE STEFFEN. JIM LOLLI responde

Well you probably did the best thi now those
guys, I don't know who that other: 1 with the
main guy too and he's got peop y state.

JIM LOLLI also told UCl:

19 .\ ere it's pretty near

_ Well I kinda try to kee
j ard  everything.”

legal. With their 1

theAoom for a short while, ZIEBARTH

55, After leavd

returned and rem ee bundles of money from his sweatshirt

pocket and 1 oney on the table. TUCl thanked JIM LOLLI

and ZIEBAR buying the rhinoceros horn. JIM LOLLI said,

“Well 4 YGome more horn.” UCLl told LOLLI that UCl would

look £ re rhinocerog horn. JIM LOLLI said:

The blacks are a bad deal I would rather just keep a
low profile on -them things. We try not to do much
that's why we just rather set it up and have nothing to
do with it. I knew when you got spooked. I said I'd
just better take 'em, bring 'em to me.
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56. As part of OPERATION CRASH, I am aware of information
provided by a Confidential Source (“CS1"). CS1 has identified
JIMMY KHA and FELIX KHA as persons who CS1 knew to be purchasing
rhinoceros horns in the 2008-2009 time period. After CS1 was
under investigation for unrelated federal wildlife crimes CS1

claimed to have purchased White rhinoceros horns from a LOLLI

BROTHERS auction. €S1 claimed, however, that when the ns were
delivered, Csl1 found that they were actually Black iase S
horns. CS1 then agreed to record a conversation LOLLT
on January 6, 2010. During the recorded conve , the
following dialogue took place: 3
Cs1: “Well, the fact s black, I mean I
can’t do nothi he damned thing.”

JIM LOLLI: “Yeah, I (o) ee, you might as well send
it back.Z

@ they’re black. Somebody slipped a
ko= .

might as well send it back and we will
t over.”

CS1:

JIM LOLLI:

CS1: % "Okay, what the hell you gonna do with them?
' [inaudible]”

Jd @ % [inaudible] Sell them to FELIX.

% “Yeah, well. :

JIM LOLLI: “I mean, he don’t really care, so. I didn’t

mention nothing about black, just told him
that wag the one that was there. I just I
didn’t tell him about you. I just sold him
the other horn I had.”

Csl: “Well; he bought the other three didn’t he?”
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JIM LOLLI: “Yeah, he said if you wait on the money, he
said I’1l take it ...”" !

CS1: " [laughs] Yeah, he called me Christmas but I
didn’t talk to him. He just left a message
but ...”

JIM LOLLI: “He sells them one at a time N

Csl: “Yeah, [laughs] I bet, I bet he gets the
biggest ones first, right?”

JIM LOLLI: “Yeah, he paid for one and a half, the other
one he has about another $5,000 to on it

"

then I will ship it to him ...

Cs1: “Alright.”

JIM LOLLI: “He said he might take the
I have to wait for the mo

57. Based upon review of investigatj s received

from another district, I am informed t days after the

conversation described above, on o anuary 13, 2010, JIM

LOLLI was contacted by USFWS. fronted about the sale of

the rhinoceros horns to CS1 LI acknowledged that he knew
it was illegal to sell B MMnoceros and claimed that he

believed he had sol 5f a Southern White Rhinoceros. LOLLI

by JIM LOLLI as the individual who had

In a later interview in March, 2011, JIM

no tim ring the interviews with USFWS, did JIM LOLLI indicate
that he had sold Black Rhinoceros horns or that he had sold them

to “Felix” as he had previously stated in the recorded

' conversation with CS1.

-40 -

i




o bl

N b

Case 2:12-mj-00401-DUTY Document1 Filed 02/16/12 Page 49 of 55 Page ID #:49

58. On September 09, 2011, a ﬁSFws SA working in an
undercover capacity ("UC2") posted a message on a publicly
available web bage explaining he had an old Black rhinoceros
mount and asked about repairing it to look new. On November 12,
2011, LANCE JOWERS contacted UC2 by email. As set forth herein,

LANCE JOWERS sought to buy this mount. I am informed that LANCE

JOWERS is closely affiliated with WADE STEFFEN. I am furgher
informed that UC2 has engaged in a prior rhinoceros
with WADE STEFFEN involving rhinoceros horns whi

subsequently shipped to JOLINE’s NAILS.

59. I am informed that on or abo <? 14, and 15,

2011, USFWS, Special Agents Leo Sug chael Merida

conducted a covert surveillance QFf t orld Class Big Game
<3:Q;gzrt Worth, Texas, where

Trophy Mount and Western Au

three Black rhinoceros s ounts were up for auction. It

was announced that o residents could purchase the Black

rhinoceros items uction was conducted by JOHN BROMMEL, who

THE CORNER () WADE STEFFEN did not bid on any of the Black
rhino oits and did not appear to the agents to be

assocl with any of the other bidders. However, SA Merida

also operates s efront business in Austin, Texas, known as

observed WADE STEFFEN meet outside in a nearby parking lot with
the person who placed the winning bid of $31,000 on item #322, a

Black rhinoceros shoulder mount. That person was subsequently
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identified through State of Texas driving license records as
LANCE JOWERS. WADE STEFFEN and LANCE JCWERS got into a red Dodge
pickup with a livestock trailer attached. The livestock trailer
was determined to be registered to LANCE JOWERS of Hico, Tekas,

and the Dodge pickup was determined to be registered to LANCE

JOWERS' s wife.

60. The following day, on October 15, 2011, USFW, cial
Agents observed LANCE JOWERS enter the auction caxg astic
bag with a unique design. WADE STEFFEN was no t at the
auction on October 15, 2011. LANCE JOWERS ,the to the

auction cashier, sat'down next to the hind the table

and was seen pulling large sums of of the plastic bag.

During the second day of the aug{ion; CE JOWERS bid on and won
the other two Black Rhinoce \ .  The winning bid for the
ered as lot #716, and the third

second mount was $19,500

was $30,500, register #761. LANCE JOWERS then was

observed at the with the same plastic bag. After the

auction conclude CE JOWERS was observed loading two of the
rhinoceros %nto the cab of the red Dodge pickup and one
rhino ot into the livestock trailer. This was also

- recor video tape by the agents. In total, LANCE JOWERS
purchased threé mounts with two horns each. Two of the horns
were subsequently identified, less than ten days later,»in a

package (which was identified in this case as SUBJECT PARCEL 9)
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sent by UPS from MOLLY BLACKBURN in Texas to JOLINE NAILS, The
horns were examined pursuant to a federal search warfant datéd

October 26, 2011, and compared to photographs and videos of the
horns at BROMMEL’s auction. Based upon photographic review of

these horns by a USFWS Forensic Scientist, these horns were

identified as being from Black Rhinoceros.

a. Another horn that was identified as havi en

purchased by LANCE JOWERS at the auction was found age

(which was identified at SUBJECT PARCEL 10) th.::jr

Stephenville, Texas by Fed Ex to JOLINE NAILS

identified. That*identified horn and rn in the package

were examined pursuant to a federal rrant dated November
1, 2011. The identified from t ;S;t$

, after testing by a

USFWS Forensic Laboratory, to be from Black Rhinoceros.
61. LANCE JOWERS i that he was using two email
accounts because he wart research UC2 and was concerned who

UC2 where he lived. UC2, while appearing

he was dealing wi e ‘interstate sales of Black rhinoceros
horns are ill a]&@ingj one conversation on November 20, 2011,
LANCE JOWE a

e

agita ioned LANCE JOWERS about the inquiry and advised
LANCE S that he was upset'with'the questions. LANCE JOWERS
responded: “Let me tell you why I asked that before you get

upset.” JOWERS stated “Here's what i'm worried about. I don't

know you, you don't know me. Ok? Those things, a black rhino
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can only be traded in the state that it is in . . . the blaék
rhino, that is mandated, you can only sell that black rhino in
the State of Indiana, the state that it is in right now. 8o,
I've got a really, really good friend that is in Indiana that
wénts; that, to get that mount..” LANCE JOWERS further stated “I
don't know who you are, so I'm trying to figure, make sure
you're, you're an Ok gﬁy, you know what I mean. So I'm ying to
do my own work on you, cause that's a lot damn mone on't
know you.” LANCE JOWERS also stated, “A rhino is to sell

outside the State of Indiana. You already knv@[ e in

Chicago, around Chicago, so if you sold afomount, that would
be illegal. I could get in big trouble t.” UC2 suggested
that the deal not happen, citing t idn't want to get in

any trouble. LANCE JOWERS at Wo reassure UC2 that he

wouldn't get in trouble and “IT've seen enough of these go

down.” LANCE JOWERS tg that all that was needed was a

“little affidavit”

d
o) k k rhinoceros to someone in Indiana.

UC2 was selling oBx

covrers QY A% 1 LANCE JOWERS then told UC2 that rhinoceros

sold % ons require similar affidavits. During the
discussIdn, LANCE JOWERS stated "but if you were to 'sell that
rhino to someone in Illinois and that rhino is in Indiana,

that's, that's a no no.." JOWERS reiterated to UC2 that he would

have his friend from Indiana pick up the rhinoceros mount and
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provide UC2 with $20,000.00 cash. LANCE JOWERS then told UC2
that both he and his friend would sign the affidavit transferring
ownership of the mount. LANCE JOWERS stated "You can't get in |
trouble as long as you do.that..that's the deal. You got to do
that on a black." UC2 questioned LANCE JOWERS about using two
different email accounts to contact him. LANCE JOWERS attempted
to explain that he felt he needed to check out UC2 and e sure
that "you ain't somebody trying to get somebody in Does
that make sense? I don't know how else to explain BUx ‘a black
rhino is on the ehdangered species list. You d%::y go kill a

black rhino in Africa..they really,, reall aksy control the

trade on the horns. I'm being straigh

LANCE JOWERS then told UC2 that the meet at any location

he preferred and "we'll do th LANCE JOWERS also stated

that he wouldn't continue on UC2 and would wait until he

contacted LANCE JOWERS -. nge the deal. LANCE JOWERS stated,

tell about the mount."

"Just be careful on

CONCLUSION

\on the foregoing, I have probable cause to

FELIX KHA, JIMMY KHA, MAI NGUYEN, and WADE STEFFEN
have c¢ tted several criminal violations of the federal
Endangered Species Act and Lacey Act related to illegal

interstate sales, transport, and acquisition of endangered

rhinoceros horn, and conspiracy to commit those crimes, including
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the following: (1) Title 16, United States Code, Sections

1538 (a) (1) (E), 1540(b) (interstate transportation of an
endangered species in the course of a commercial activity); (2)
Title 16, United States Code, Sections 1538(a) (1) (F), 1540 (D)
(offering to seli or sale of an endangered species in interstate
commerce); (3) Title 16, United States Code, Sections 3372(a) (1),

3373 (d) (1) (B), 1538(a) (1) (E), 1538(a) (1) (F) ,. 1540(b) (k ing

transportation, sale, receipt, acquisition, or purchas
endangered species with a market value in excess @with

knowledge that the endangered species were de , sold,

carried, transported, or shipped in the e& commercial

TS
// | | @

//
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activity and/or were sold or offered for sale in interstate
commerce); and (4) Title 18, United States Code, Section 371
(conspiracy to engage in violations of the aforementioned

statutes) including those set forth in the attached Statement of

Counts One through Four.

LT AR ING
Special Agent

United States Fi
Service

Subscribed and sworn to before me on day of

February, 2012. x
UNI STATES MAGISTRATE@

N2
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